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IN
IN THE
THE UNITED
UNITEDSTATES
STATES DISTRICT
DISTRICTCOURT
COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT
DISTRICT OF
OF TEXAS
TEXAS
BROWNSVILLE
DIVISION
BROWNSVILLE DIVISION
LA UNION DEL
DEL PUEBLO
PUEBLO ENTERO,
ENTERO, INC.,
FRANCISCA ADAME, ALEJANDRO

§
§
ALVARADO,
§
ALVARADO, ELIZABETH
ELIZABETH ALVARADO,
ALVARADO,
MANUEL
MANUEL BENAVIDEZ,
BENAVIDEZ, MARIA
MARIA GALARDO
GALARDO §§
JOSE
GONZALES, AGUSTINA
AGUSTINA IGLESIAS, §
JOSE GONZALES,
NOE JIMENEZ, VERONICA JIMENEZ,
§
ERNESTO
LOPEZ, NORMA
NORMA LOPEZ,
§
ERNESTO LOPEZ,
FRANCISCA PEREZ,
ROSA ELIA
ELIA
§
PEREZ, ROSA
VILLARREAL,
§
VILLARREAL,and
and CRUZ ALEJANDRO
ZAMORA,
§
Plaintiffs,
§
§
v.
§
§
FEDERAL EMERGENCY
EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT
MANAGEMENT §
AGENCY (FEMA),
§
Defendant.
§
Defendant.

Civil
Civil Action
Action No.
1:08-cv-__________

COMPLAINT
FOR
INJUNCTIVE
RELIEFRELIEF
COMPLAINT
FOR
INJUNCTIVE
1.
1.

After
After Hurricane
Hurricane Dolly
Dollyhit
hitthe
theSouth
SouthTexas
Texascoast
coast on
on July
July23,
23, 2008,
2008, Defendant
Defendant Federal
Federal

Emergency
ManagementAgency
Agency(FEMA)
(FEMA) denied
denied roughly
roughly half of
Emergency Management
of all
all housing
housing repair applications
in the Rio Grande Valley, one of the nation’s poorest regions.
regions. Plaintiffs
lowPlaintiffsare
are and
and represent
represent low-

income families whose homes
homeswere
weredamaged
damagedby
byDolly.
Dolly. They seek
seek aapreliminary
preliminary injunction
injunction to
compel FEMA
FEMA to
to comply
complywith
withits
itsnon-discretionary
non-discretionaryduties
dutiesunder
under42
42U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§
§§ 5151(a)
5151(a) and
and
5174(j)
decide applications
applications for housing
5174(j) to:
to: (a)
(a) publicly
publiclydisclose
disclosethe
thestandards
standards that
that itit uses
uses to decide
housing
repair
and(b)
(b) decide
decidethese
theseapplications
applicationsin
inan
anequitable
equitableand
andimpartial
impartial manner,
manner, without
without
repair assistance;
assistance; and

using hidden internal
internal rules
rules that
that discriminate
discriminate against
againstthe
thepoor.
poor. Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs contacted
FEMA in
contacted FEMA
in an
an
effort
effort to
to avoid
avoid litigation,
litigation,but
butFEMA
FEMAdid
didnot
notname
nameitsitslegal
legalstandards
standardsororagree
agree to
to discuss
discuss
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publishing them. Plaintiffs
injunctive relief
Plaintiffstherefore
therefore seek
seek injunctive
relief to
to minimize
minimizeongoing
ongoingirreparable
irreparable harm
to their families
and destruction
destruction of
of their property.
families in
inthe
the form
formofofhealth
healthhazards,
hazards, displacement,
displacement, and

PARTIES
2.
2.

Plaintiff La
Plaintiff
LaUnion
Uniondel
delPueblo
Pueblo Entero
Entero (LUPE)
(LUPE)isisaa nonprofit
nonprofitmembership
membership organization

comprised largely of farm
arein
in Arizona,
Arizona, California,
California, and
farm workers
workers whose
whose primary
primary residences
residences are
and
Texas.
Texas. LUPE
LUPEwas
wasfounded
foundedby
byCesar
Cesar Chavez
Chavez to
to help
help meet
meet the
the advocacy
advocacy and
and organizing
organizing needs
needs of

farm
farm workers.
workers. LUPE
LUPEhas
hasoperated
operatedan
an office
officeininSan
SanJuan,
Juan, Texas
Texas for
fordecades,
decades, and now includes
some
seven thousand
thousandmembers
membersin
in South
South Texas.
Texas. LUPE
to conduct
conduct housing
housing
some seven
LUPE uses
uses its
its resources
resources to

advocacy
on behalf
behalf of
of its
its members.
members. In response
toHurricane
HurricaneDolly,
Dolly, LUPE staff
advocacy on
response to
staff organized
organized

meetings
with officials
officials and
respondtotoflooding,
flooding,utility
utility
meetings with
and affected families to help members
members respond
restoration, and
and other
other damage
damagetotohousing.
housing. In
In furtherance
furtherance of
of LUPE’s
LUPE’s mission
LUPE
mission and
and purpose,
purpose, LUPE
helps
members understand
understandand
andaccess
accessgovernment
governmenthousing
housingbenefits
benefitsfor
forwhich
whichthey
they qualify,
qualify,
helps members

including FEMA
FEMAbenefits.
benefits. LUPE
LUPEadvocates
advocates for
for fair
fairgovernment
government treatment of low-income
families, including
including disaster
disaster survivors. See
See www.lupenet.org. LUPE
LUPEincludes
includes members
members who
applied
applied to
to FEMA
FEMAfor
forhousing
housingrepair
repairassistance,
assistance, and
and whose
whose applications
applications were
were denied
denied due
due to what

FEMA
FEMA called
called “insufficient
“insufficient damage.”
damage.”
3.
3.

The individual Plaintiffs
andHidalgo
Hidalgocounties.
counties. After
After their primary
Plaintiffs reside
reside in Cameron
Cameron and

residences
weredamaged
damagedby
byHurricane
HurricaneDolly,
Dolly, they
they applied
applied for
for housing
housing repair
repair assistance.
assistance. FEMA
FEMA
residences were

denied
their applications,
applications, in
in nearly all
all cases
casesdue
duetoto“insufficient
“insufficient damage,”
damage,” without
without telling them
denied their
what
applied or
what legal
legal standard
standard was
was applied
or what
what facts
facts were
were relied
relied upon
uponto
todeny
denythem
themassistance.
assistance.

4.
4.

Defendant Federal
Federal Emergency
Emergency Management
ManagementAgency
Agency (FEMA)
(FEMA) is
is an
an agency of the United

States
Department of
of Homeland
Homeland Security,
Security, aa cabinet
of the
Government.
States Department
cabinet department
department of
the United
United States
States Government.
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Congress
chargesFEMA
FEMA with
with providing disaster relief to survivors under the Robert
Robert T.
T. Stafford
Congress charges
Disaster
Relief and
Act, 42
Disaster Relief
and Emergency
Emergency Assistance
Assistance Act,
42 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§ 5121,
5121, et
et seq.
seq.

JURISDICTION
JURISDICTION
5.
5.

This Court
question jurisdiction
jurisdiction pursuant
Court has
has federal question
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

VENUE
6.
6.

Venue
Venue is
is proper
proper in
in this
this Court
Courtpursuant
pursuant to
to 28
28 U.S.C.
U.S.C.§§1391(e)(2)
1391(e)(2)because
because aa substantial
substantial

part
at issue
issueoccurred
occurredin
in this
this district.
district.
part of the
the events
events or omissions at

FACTS

A. Statutory
Statutoryand
andRegulatory
RegulatoryBackground
Background
7.
7.

Congress
allows each
eacheligible
eligible family
family up
Congress allows
up to
to $28,800
$28,800 in
in total
total disaster
disaster relief
relief services,
services,

including
including home
home repairs. 42
42 U.S.C.
U.S.C. § 5174(c)(2) and (h).
8.
8.

Means
testing of
is forbidden
forbidden except
to private
private insurance,
so it
it
Means testing
of home
home repair
repair assistance
assistance is
except as
as to
insurance, so

is available to families
families regardless
of their income or assets.
assets. Id.
Id. at
at §§ 5174(c)(2)(B).
5174(c)(2)(B).
regardless of
9.
9.

Congress
requiresFEMA
FEMA to “prescribe rules and regulations to carry out [housing repair
Congress requires

assistance
under42
42U.S.C.
U.S.C.§§5174(c)(2)],
5174(c)(2)], including
including criteria,
assistance under
criteria,standards,
standards, and
and procedures
procedures for

determining
eligibility for
determining eligibility
forassistance.”
assistance.” Id.
Id. at
at § 5174(j).
10.
10.

Congress
alsorequires
requiresFEMA
FEMA to
to issue
issueregulations
regulationstoto“insur[e]
“insur[e] that
that the
the distribution
distribution of
Congress also

[housing repair]
[is] accomplished in an
an equitable
equitable and
and impartial
impartial manner,
manner, without
without
repair] assistance
assistance [is]

discrimination
discrimination on
on the
the grounds of … economic status.” 42
42 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§ 5151(a).
11.
11.

FEMA
FEMA attempted
attempted to comply
comply with
with§§
§§5151(a)
5151(a) and
and 5174(j)
5174(j) by
by adopting
adopting regulations
regulations that

only
the language
language of
of 42
42 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§ 5174(c)(2).
5174(c)(2). See
44 C.F.R.
C.F.R. §
§ 206.117(b)(2)
206.117(b)(2) and
(c).
only repeat
repeat the
See 44
and (c).
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B. Absence
Absenceof
ofAscertainable
AscertainableStandards
Standards for
forHousing
HousingAssistance
Assistance
12.
12.

FEMA’s
it applies
FEMA’svarious
variousstatements
statements of
of the
the legal
legal standards
standards that
that it
applies to
to decide
decide housing
housing repair
repair

applications
vague that
that they
they are
are not
not consistently
consistently understood
understood or
or applied
applied by
by applicants,
applications are
are so
so vague
applicants,

inspectors,
local officials,
officials, FEMA
FEMA officials
inspectors, local
FEMA contractors,
contractors, or even FEMA
officialsthemselves.
themselves.
13.
13.

FEMA
available to
to “insure
“insure the
FEMAstates
states that
that housing
housing repair
repair assistance
assistance isis available
the safety or health of

the occupant” without stating what immediacy or magnitude
magnitude of
of risk qualifies a repair for
coverage,
so that
that FEMA
FEMA may
coverage, so
may choose
choose to
to repair
repair only
onlyitems
itemsthat
thatpose
pose an
an immediate
immediate or
or severe
severe threat,
threat,

or
conceivable relationship
relationship to
to health
health and
and safety.
safety. 44
or itit may
may choose
choose to repair anything
anything that
that bears
bears aa conceivable
44

C.F.R. § 206.117(b)(2); id. at § 206.117(c).
14.
14.

FEMA
is available
available to
to “make
FEMAalso
alsostates
states that
that housing
housing repair
repair assistance
assistance is
“make the
the residence
residence

functional,”
functional,” 44
44 C.F.R.
C.F.R. §§ 206.117(b)(2)(ii),
206.117(b)(2)(ii),and
and defines
defines “functional”
“functional”so
sobroadly
broadlyas
as to
to approach
approach
meaninglessness:
“anitem
item or
or home
home capable
capableof
ofbeing
beingused
usedfor
forits
itsintended
intendedpurpose.”
purpose.” Id.
Id. at
meaninglessness: “an
at §§
206.111.
206.111.
15.
15.

FEMA
“By regulation,
FEMA writes
writes the
the following
followingtotoapplicants
applicantsfor
forhousing
housingrepair
repair assistance:
assistance: “By

the FEMA
FEMA Individuals
Individualsand
andHouseholds
HouseholdsProgram
Program (IHP)
(IHP)can
canaddress
address only
only your
your emergency
emergency repairs

and needs.
needs. This program is not intended
intended to
to fully
fully restore your property to pre-disaster
pre-disaster condition.”
condition.”
16.
16.

FEMA
homes up
up to
to minimal
minimal building
building codes,
even if
if
FEMAregulations
regulations allow
allowassistance
assistance to repair homes
codes, even

this improves homes
homesbeyond
beyondtheir
theirpre-disaster
pre-disastercondition.
condition.44
44C.F.R.
C.F.R.§§206.113(b)(5).
206.113(b)(5).But
But FEMA
FEMA
never says
saysif,
if, how,
how, or when it applies this regulation.
17.
17.

Unlike
Unlike FEMA,
FEMA,the
theU.S.
U.S.Department
Departmentof
ofHousing
Housingand
andUrban
UrbanDevelopment
Developmenthas
has shown that

ascertainable
housing safety
safety standards
standards can
canbe
beproduced
producedin
in regulations.
regulations. See
24 C.F.R.
C.F.R. §
§ 982.401.
982.401.
ascertainable housing
See 24
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18.
18.

Unlike FEMA,
Unlike
FEMA,the
theU.S.
U.S.Department
Departmentof
ofAgriculture
Agriculturehas
hasshown
shownthat
thatascertainable
ascertainable housing

safety
can be
beproduced
producedin
in regulations.
regulations. See
C.F.R. §
§ 3560.103.
safety standards
standards can
See 77 C.F.R.
3560.103.

C. Hurricane
HurricaneDolly---Disaster
Dolly---DisasterNo.
No.1780
1780
19.
19.

Hurricane Dolly
Dollyhit
hitthe
theSouth
SouthTexas
Texas Coast
Coast on July 23, 2008, resulting in
in major
major disaster
disaster

declaration number 1780, which made federal disaster
disaster relief
relief available to families in
in three
three South

Texas
counties: Cameron,
Cameron,Hidalgo,
Hidalgo, and
andWillacy.
Willacy.
Texas counties:
20.
20.

Disaster
the Rio
Rio Grande
Grande Valley,
Valley, one
regions of
of the United
Disaster No. 1780 covers the
one of the
the poorest
poorest regions

States,
andaaregion
regionwith
with much housing that is poorly constructed.
States, and
constructed.
21.
21.

FEMA admits
denial rate
rate isis unusually
unusuallyhigh
highfor
for Hurricane
Hurricane Dolly.
Dolly.
FEMA
admits that
that its
its home repair denial

22.
22.

A
follows: “A
built were
A FEMA
FEMAofficial
officialexplained
explainedthe
thehigh
highdenial
denial rate
rate as
as follows:
“A lot
lotof
ofthe
the homes
homes built
were

built
causedfrom
from the
the faulty
faulty
built from
fromsecond
second hand
hand materials.
materials. So
Sothe
thedamage
damage was,
was, in
in most
most cases,
cases, caused

building
the storm.”
storm.”
building of
ofthe
the house,
house, and not the
23.
23.

FEMA
information concerning
FEMAcollects,
collects,maintains,
maintains,and
and uses
uses information
concerning aa category of home repair

FEMA labels
applications that FEMA
labels “deferred
“deferred maintenance,”
maintenance,” but publicly
publiclyavailable
availablelegal
legalstandards
standards do

information or
not mention “deferred maintenance” or explain how FEMA
FEMAascertains
ascertains this information
or uses
uses it
in its
in
its housing
housing repair
repairassistance
assistance decisions.
decisions.

24.
24.

FEMA has
to
FEMA
has applied
appliedunascertainable
unascertainable legal
legalstandards
standards to
to deny
deny housing
housing repair
repairassistance
assistance to

somewhere
betweenten
tenand
andfifteen
fifteenthousand
thousandlow-income
low-incomefamilies
families in
in the
the Rio
Rio Grande
Grande Valley
Valley
somewhere between

since
Hurricane Dolly
Dolly struck, roughly half of
since Hurricane
of all
all applicants.
applicants.
25.
25.

In response
to aawritten
written request
requestfrom
fromPlaintiffs’
Plaintiffs’ counsel, FEMA
FEMA has
response to
has not provided or

agreed
to discuss
discuss its
its legal
legal standards
standardsfor
for deciding
deciding home
home repair
repair applications.
applications.
agreed to
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26.
26.

Absence of
of ascertainable
ascertainableFEMA
FEMA standards
standardsfor
forequitable
equitableand
andimpartial
impartialdistribution
distribution of
Absence

housing
asrequired
requiredby
by42
42U.S.C.
U.S.C.§§5151(a),
5151(a),produces
producesthe
thefollowing
following
housing repair
repair assistance,
assistance, as
consequences:
consequences:
a.
a.

FEMA makes
FEMA
makes arbitrary,
arbitrary,subjective
subjectivedecisions
decisions about
about who
who gets
gets housing repair
assistance,
and how
how much
much assistance
is provided
provided in
assistance, and
assistance is
in each
each case;
case;

b.
b.

FEMA
FEMAhousing
housingdamage
damage inspectors
inspectors do
do not
not use
use consistent
consistent methods
methods to
to gather
gather the
the
facts
facts upon
upon which
which its
itshousing
housingrepair
repairassistance
assistance decisions
decisionsare
are based;
based; and
and

c.
c.

applicants
arenot
notprovided
providedsufficient
sufficient factual or legal
applicants for housing
housing repair
repair assistance
assistance are
information
informationto
todetermine
determinewhether
whethertotoundertake
undertake the
the effort
effortnecessary
necessary to
to appeal
appeal

FEMA’s
FEMA’sdenial
denialofofassistance.
assistance.

D. Individual
IndividualPlaintiffs
Plaintiffs
27.
27.

The individual
individual Plaintiffs
homes from
from Hurricane
Hurricane Dolly,
Dolly, applied
Plaintiffssuffered
suffered damage
damage to their homes

to
this assistance
assistancewithout
without being
being told
told what
what
to FEMA
FEMAfor
forhome
homerepair
repairassistance,
assistance, and
and were
were denied
denied this
facts
standard FEMA
FEMA relied
facts and legal standard
relied upon
upon to
todeny
denythis
thisassistance.
assistance.
28.
28.

FEMA
individual Plaintiffs
FEMA sent
sent the individual
Plaintiffsaa form
formletter
letter denying
denying their
their applications
applications for
for housing
housing

repair assistance.
assistance. Quoted
Quoted below
below is
is the
the complete
completeand
andonly
onlyexplanation
explanationthat
thatFEMA
FEMA provides for its
denial
denial of
of home
home repair
repair assistance:
assistance:

We recognize
recognize how
how difficult
difficult aa time this is for
family and
for you
you and your family
and we
understand
that many
many people
peopleneed
needhelp
helpfollowing
following aa disaster.
disaster. We are committed to
understand that
providing
can, including
including important information to begin your
providing you
you any
any help we can,
recovery.
The
management Agency
Agency (FEMA)
(FEMA) and
The Federal
Federal Emergency management
and State
State of
of Texas
Texas have
have
carefully
considered
all
available
information
regarding
your
request
for
carefully considered
information regarding your request
assistance.
is listed
listed below:
assistance. Our decision(s) about your request
request is

CATEGORIES

DETERMINATION
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Housing
Housing Assistance
Assistance

================
Total Grant Amount:

IID- Ineligible
IIDIneligible--Insufficient
InsufficientDamage
Damage
===========
$0.00
$0.00

IID
IID -- Ineligible
Ineligible -- Insufficient
InsufficientDamage
Damage
Based on
on your
your FEMA
FEMA inspection,
Based
inspection,we
wehave
havedetermined
determinedthat
thatthe
thedisaster
disaster has
has
not caused
your
house
to
be
unsafe
to
live
in.
This
determination
was
caused your house to be unsafe to live in.
based solely
solely on
on the
the damage
damage to
to your
your home
related to
to this
based
home that
that are
are related
this disaster.
disaster.
Although the
some minor
minor damage,
Although
thedisaster
disaster may
may have
have caused
caused some
damage, itit is
reasonable
to
expect
you
or
your
landlord
to
make
these
repairs. At
At this
reasonable to expect you or your landlord to make these repairs.
time you are not eligible for
for FEMA
FEMAassistance.
assistance.

If you
with our
If
you do
do not
not agree
agree with
our decision,
decision, you
you have
have the right
right to
to appeal.
appeal. Please
Please
send us
us documents
documentssuch
suchas
asaastatement
statementfrom
fromlocal
localofficials,
officials, contractor
send
estimates,
etc. to
to show
show that
to your
by the
estimates, etc.
that the
the damage
damage to
your house
house was
was caused
caused by
the
disaster and
and has
has caused
causedunsafe
unsafeororunlivable
unlivable conditions.
conditions.
disaster
a.
a.

Francisca Adame’s
Adame’s roof
roof leaks and
and there
thereisismold
moldgrowing
growing on
on her
her ceiling
ceiling and
and walls,
walls, which
Francisca
will
probably
cost
around
$1500
to
repair
or
replace,
but
she
was
denied
any
housing
will probably cost around $1500 to repair or replace, but she was denied any housingassistance
assistance
insufficient damage.
benefits due to insufficient
damage.
29.
29.

Plaintiff
PlaintiffFrancisca
Francisca Adame,
Adame, age
age 74, lives alone in Edcouch, Hidalgo County, Texas. Ms.

Adame has
has lived
lived in this
this home for
for over
over 18
18 years.
years.
30.
30.

Ms. Adame lives in extreme poverty. Her
Herannual
annual income
income is only
only $6,756,
$6,756, comprised of

social security disability
disability benefits
benefits and
and Supplemental Security Income (SSI).
31.
31.

Hurricane Dolly
and blowing
blowing some
off
Dollydamaged
damaged Ms. Adame’s roof,
roof, loosening
loosening shingles and
some off

entirely.
entirely. As
Asaaresult,
result,the
the roof
roofleaks
leaks when
when ititrains.
rains.Ms.
Ms.Adame
Adametries
triestotoprevent
preventdamage
damage where
where she
she

can,
putting out buckets
buckets to
to collect
collect the
the water
water that
thatleaks
leaksthrough.
through. However,
However, portions of the ceiling
can, putting
are
rotting and
on some
someinterior
interior walls.
are now rotting
and mold
mold has
has developed on
32.
32.

She
has been
beenadvised
advisedthat
thatrepairs
repairswill
will cost
cost close
close to
to $1500.
$1500. Ms.
She has
Ms. Adame
Adame does
does not
not have
have

insurance
or any
to make
repairs.
insurance or
any other
other means
means to
make the
the repairs.
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33.
33.

A
A FEMA
FEMAinspector
inspectorcame
came to
to Ms.
Ms. Adame’s
Adame’s home
home around
around August 8, 2008. He
He was
was unable
unable

to communicate directly
directly with
Spanish. Ms. Adame’s
withMs.
Ms.Adame
Adamebecause
because he did not speak
speak Spanish.
Adame’s son
acted
as aatranslator.
translator. The
on the
the ground
ground when
when he
took photographs
of the
acted as
The inspector
inspector remained
remained on
he took
photographs of
the

property even though Ms.
Ms. Adame told the inspector
inspector she
shedid
did not
not think
think it was possible
possible for
for him to
adequately
the damaged
damagedroof
roof from
from the ground.
adequately inspect the
34.
34.

FEMA sent
FEMA
sent Ms.
Ms.Adame
Adameaaletter
letterdenying
denyinghousing
housingassistance
assistanceand
and other
otherassistance
assistance on
on

August 12, 2008,
2008, listing
listing the
the reason
reasonfor
fordenial
denialas
as“IID-Ineligible
“IID-Ineligible - Insufficient
Insufficient Damage”
Damage” and
and
providing
providing nothing
nothingbut
butthe
the form
formexplanation
explanationquoted
quotedininparagraph
paragraph 28
28 above.
above.
35.
35.

On
On October
October 1,
1, 2008,
2008, Ms.
Ms. Adame
Adameappealed
appealed the
the denial
denial of
ofbenefits
benefitsand
andrequested
requested aa second
second

inspection
inspection of
of her
her home.
home.
36.
36.

Although
would like
Although she
she would
like to
to obtain
obtain aa written
writtenestimate
estimate of
of the
the repair
repair costs in order to include

that with
with a FEMA
an estimate.
estimate. A contractor
FEMAappeal,
appeal, Ms.
Ms. Adame
Adame cannot afford to pay for such an
told her orally
orally that
that he
he would
would charge
charge $600 for
for labor,
labor, but
but this
this free
free estimate
estimate did not include
include the
the cost

of materials.
37.
37.

Ms. Adame has
received any
any written
written decision following
following her
has not received
herOctober
October 1,
1, 2008
2008 appeal.
appeal.

38.
38.

On November 3,
3, 2008,
2008, aaTRLA
TRLA advocate
advocatecalled
calledFEMA
FEMA about
aboutthe
theappeal.
appeal.AA FEMA
FEMA

representative
representative informed
informedMs.
Ms.Adame’s
Adame’sadvocate
advocatethat
thatassistance
assistancehad
hadbeen
been denied
denied because
because the
the

damages
to Ms.
Ms. Adame’s
Adame’s pre-disaster
pre-disaster home
home were
were not
not caused
causedby
bythe
thedisaster.
disaster. Rather,
Rather,FEMA
FEMA
damages to

claims the damages
damagesresulted
resultedfrom
fromaalack
lackof
of maintenance
maintenanceprior
priorto
tothe
thedisaster.
disaster. The
TheFEMA
FEMA
representative
advised Ms.
Ms. Adame’s
Adame’s advocate
advocate that
that Ms.
Ms. Adame
Adame would
would need
to submit
representative advised
need to
submit aa new
new

appeal
if she
wished to
to challenge
challenge FEMA’s
FEMA’s decision
were due
due to
to lack
lack of
of
appeal if
she wished
decisionthat
thatthe
the damages
damages were
maintenance.
maintenance.
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b.
Alejandro
leaking roof,
b.
Alejandro Alvarado
Alvarado and
and Elizabeth
Elizabeth Alvarado
Alvarado must
must repair
repair or
or replace
replace a leaking
cracked walls and
and ceilings, aa flooded and
and uninhabitable bedroom,
bedroom, and molding carpet,
carpet, but they
were
denied
housing
repair
assistance
due
to
“insufficient
damage.”
were denied housing repair assistance due to “insufficient damage.”
39.
39.

Plaintiff
has lived
lived for 38 years
with his
PlaintiffAlejandro
AlejandroAlvarado
Alvaradohas
hasbut
butone
one home,
home, where
where he has
years with

family.
family. The
Thehome
homeisislocated
locatedininLozano,
Lozano,Cameron
Cameron County,
County, Texas.
Texas.
40.
40.

The Alvarados live
live in
in extreme
extreme poverty,
poverty, with
withan
an annual
annual income
income of
of about
about $20,000 to

support aa household
householdof
offive,
five, including
including Alejandro’s
Alejandro’s wife
wifeHerminia
Herminia(age
(age 57),
57), his
his daughter
daughter
Elizabeth (age
(age 31,
31, who
who is
is also
also aaPlaintiff
Plaintiff because
becauseshe
sheoriginally
originallyapplied
appliedfor
for FEMA
FEMA repair
assistance)
andElizabeth’s
Elizabeth’s two children,
assistance) and
children, ages
ages 14
14 and
and 2.
2.

41.
41.

Elizabeth and
and her
her children
children have
have lived
lived in
in the
the Alvarado
Alvarado home
home for
for their entire lives.

42.
42.

Hurricane Dolly
Dolly caused
structural and
androofing
roofing damage
damagetotothe
theAlvarados’
Alvarados’home.
home.Dolly’s
Dolly’s
caused structural

winds
the roof,
roof, blowing
blowing off
in the
roof and
in the
winds damaged
damaged the
offshingles
shingles and
and boards
boards creating
creating holes
holes in
the roof
and in
the
sides of
of the
the house
house through
through which
which water
sides
water enters.
enters. Dolly
Dollyalso
alsoshook
shookthe
thehouse
houseand
and caused
caused large
large

cracks to
to appear
appearin
in the
thewalls
walls and
andceiling.
ceiling. Water began to stream
stream down
down the
theinterior
interior walls
walls during
was flooded.
flooded. Large
Hurricane Dolly,
Dolly,and
and one
one of
of the
the house’s
house’s two bedrooms was
Large leaks
leaks remain
house whenever
wheneveritit rains.
rains. Pungent mold continues
continues to
to grow in the house
house with
with rain
throughout the house

and
heat. The Alvarados fear for the health
health of
of their family
family because
of the
the mold.
mold. To
and heat.
because of
To this
this day
day the
the
mold
mold remains
remains in
in the
the carpet
carpet of
of the
the home.
home.
43.
43.

A
that itit would cost $3,300
$3,300 just
just to
to repair
repair the
the Alvarados’
Alvarados’ roof.
A contractor
contractor estimated
estimated that

44.
44.

The
The Alvarados
Alvarados do
do not
not have
have insurance
insurance or
or any
any other
other means
means to
to make
make the
the repairs.
repairs.

45.
45.

The Alvarados applied for
for FEMA
FEMAhome
homerepair
repairassistance
assistance under 42 U.S.C. § 5174(c)(2).

46.
46.

FEMA
the Alvarados’
Alvarados’ home, who listened to the
the Alvarados’
Alvarados’
FEMA sent
sent an inspector to the

description
causedby
byDolly.
Dolly.
description of
of the
the damage
damage caused
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47.
47.

FEMA
on August
August 12,
FEMAsent
sent the
the Alvarados
Alvaradosaa letter
letter denying
denyinghome
home repair
repairassistance
assistance on
12, 2008,
2008,

listing
for denial
denialas
as“IID-Ineligible
“IID-Ineligible - Insufficient
listing the
the reason
reason for
Insufficient Damage”
Damage” and
and providing nothing but
the
form explanation
the form
explanation quoted
quoted in
in paragraph
paragraph 28
28 above.
above.
48.
48.

The
and provided
provided aa contractor
contractor statement.
statement. As
As far as
as they
they know,
know, their
The Alvarados appealed
appealed and

appeal
remains pending
pending at
at this
this time.
appeal remains

Manuel Benavidez’s roof leaked,
leaked, pouring
pouring water
waterinto
into his
his kitchen,
kitchen,living
living room, dining
C.
room
and
laundry
room,
but
he
was
denied
any
housing
assistance
benefits
duetoto“insufficient
“insufficient
room and laundry room, but he was denied any housing assistance benefits due
damage.”
49.
49.

Manuel Benavidez, 67, and his wife, 70, have lived for
for about
about 30
30 years
years in El
El Charro,
Charro, an
an

informal
informal subdivision
subdivisionor
or“colonia”
“colonia”located
locatednear
nearSan
SanJuan,
Juan, Texas.
Texas.
50.
50.

Mr.
his wife
wife live in
Mr. Benavidez
Benavidez and
and his
in extreme
extreme poverty. Mr.
Mr.Benavidez
Benavidezreceives
receives Social

Security benefits of about $590
$590 aa month.
month. His
His wife
wifereceives
receives Social Security benefits of
of about
$374
month. They
month.
$374 aa month.
Theyalso
also receive
receive Food
Food Stamps
Stamps in
in the
the amount
amount of
of about
about $34
$34 aa month.
51.
51.

When Hurricane Dolly
the torrential
torrential rain from
Dollystruck
struckthe
the Texas
Texas coast, the
from the
the hurricane

caused
severedamage
damagetotoMr.
Mr.Benavidez’s
Benavidez’sroof.
roof. The
caused severe
The weight
weight of
of the
the rainwater
rainwater on
on the
the roof
roofcaused
caused
beams
and/or flashings
flashings under
under the
the roof,
roof, and/or
and/or the
the roof
roof itself, to
beams and/or
to warp
warp and
and buckle,
buckle, so
so that
that water
water

poured
down the
the kitchen
kitchen wall,
wall, the
the living
living room wall,
wall, part
poured down
part of
of the dining room wall
wall and
and into
into the
the
laundry room.
52.
52.

Ever
come into
into the
house when
when it
it rains
Ever since
since the
the hurricane, water
water has
has come
the house
rains through
through the
the leaks
leaks

caused
whenthe
theroof
roofbuckled
buckledin
in Hurricane
Hurricane Dolly.
Dolly.
caused when
53.
53.

Also,
through the
places where
where Hurricane
Hurricane
Also, ever
ever since
since the
the hurricane,
hurricane, insects
insects enter
enter the
the house
house through
the places

Dolly
house to
to leak.
leak. Mr.
Dollycaused
caused the house
Mr.Benavidez
Benavidezhas
hasbeen
been spraying
spraying insecticide
insecticideon
on the
the pests
pests but

this does
not stop
stopthem
themfrom
fromcoming.
coming. He did not have
this infestation
infestation before
before Dolly.
Dolly.
does not
have this
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54.
54.

Mr.
to make
to
Mr. Benavidez
Benavidezdoes
does not
not have
have any
any insurance
insurance to
to cover
cover the
the repairs
repairs he
he needs
needs to
make due
due to

the
damage caused
causedby
by Hurricane
Hurricane Dolly,
Dolly, or
the damage
orany
anyother
othermeans
means to
tomake
make the
the repairs
repairs that
thatare
are needed.
needed.

55.
55.

On or about August 6, 2008 Mr.
Mr. Benavidez
Benavidez applied for
for FEMA
FEMAhome
homerepair
repairassistance
assistance

under 42 U.S.C. § 5174(c)(2).
56.
56.

FEMA
Mr. Benavidez’s
the damage.
damage. Mr. Benavidez
FEMAsent
sent an
an inspector to Mr.
Benavidez’s house
house to inspect the

told
told the
the inspector
inspector that
that the
the damage
damage was to the roof, and
and offered the
the inspector
inspector aa ladder
ladder to
to go
go up
up and
and

look
look at
at the roof.
roof. The
Theinspector
inspectordeclined
declinedtotogo
goup
upon
onthe
the ladder
ladder and
and look
look at
at the
the damaged
damaged roof.
She
told Mr.
Mr. Benavidez
didn’t need
camera“could
“could do miracles” and
She told
Benavidez that
that she didn’t
need to do that, that her camera
she
just took
took pictures
pictures from
from inside
and at
at ground
ground level.
level. She
did not
of the
she just
inside the
the house
house and
She did
not take
take pictures
pictures of
the
part
only took
part of
of the
the roof
roof that
that was
was seriously
seriously damaged
damaged by
by the
the hurricane.
hurricane. She
She only
took pictures
pictures of
ofthe
theareas
areas
that
that were
were not
not seriously
seriously damaged.
damaged.

57.
57.

On
August 13,
On or
or about
about August
13, FEMA
FEMAsent
sent Mr.
Mr.Benavidez
Benavidezaaletter
letterdenying
denyinghousing
housingassistance,
assistance,

listing
for denial
denialas
as“IID-Ineligible
“IID-Ineligible - Insufficient
listing the
the reason
reason for
Insufficient Damage”
Damage” and
and providing nothing but
the
form explanation
the form
explanation quoted
quoted in
in paragraph
paragraph 28
28 above.
above.
58.
58.

In September
2008, Mr.
Mr. Benavidez submitted an
an appeal
appealto
toFEMA,
FEMA, together with a
September 2008,

contractor’s
and the
the estimated
estimated cost
cost to
to repair
repair it.
it.
contractor’s estimate
estimate regarding
regarding the
the damage
damage to
to the
the house
house and

59.
59.

On or about November 3, 2008, aa representative
representativefrom
from Texas
TexasRioGrande
RioGrandeLegal
Legal Aid,
Aid, Inc.

called FEMA
FEMA on
on Mr.
Mr.Benavidez’s
Benavidez’sbehalf,
behalf,and
and spoke
spoke to
to aa FEMA
FEMArepresentative.
representative. The
representative
stated that
that on
on October
October 15,
15, 2008,
2008, Mr.
Mr. Benavidez’s
to
representative stated
Benavidez’s appeal
appeal was
was denied,
denied, due
due to

“deferred maintenance.”
60.
60.

On or about November 11, 2008, FEMA
FEMA sent
sent Mr.
Mr. Benavidez
Benavidez aa letter
letter denying
denying his
his appeal
appeal

and
denying his
his request
request for
for repair
repair assistance.
assistance. Quoted
Quoted below
below is
complete and
and only
only
and denying
is the
the complete
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explanation that
that FEMA
FEMA provided for
for its
its denial
denial of
of Mr.
Mr.Benavidez’s
Benavidez’sappeal
appeal for
for home
home repair
assistance:
assistance:

You recently appealed
oneof
of FEMA’s
FEMA’s decisions regarding
regarding your
your application
application for
appealed one
disaster
assistance.
We
have
thoroughly
reviewed
your
case
including
all of
of the
disaster assistance. We have thoroughly reviewed your case including all
the
information and
new information
and documents
documents you provided.
provided. Our
Our decision(s)
decision(s) about
about your
your appeal
appeal
is listed below.

CATEGORIES
Home Repair
Home
Repair

================
Total Grant Amount:

DETERMINATION
IIDIID- Ineligible
Ineligible--Insufficient
InsufficientDamage
Damage
===========
$0.00
$0.00

IID
IID -- Ineligible
Ineligible -- Insufficient
InsufficientDamage
Damage
explained that
that you
you were
were not
not eligible
eligible for
In a previous letter, we explained
FEMA
housing
assistance
because
when
FEMA
inspected
your
FEMA housing assistance because when FEMA inspected your
home
it was
your home
home it
was determined
determined that
that the
the disaster
disaster had
had not
not caused
caused your
home
to
be
unsafe
to
live
in.
This
determination
was
based
solely
on
to be unsafe to live in. This determination was based solely on the
the
damage
to your
your home
home that
that is
is related
related to
to this
this disaster.
disaster. We explained
damage to
explained
that
some minor
minor damage,
that although
although the
the disaster
disaster may
may have
have caused
caused some
damage, itit
reasonable to
to expect
expect you
you or
or your landlord
landlord to
was reasonable
to make
make these
these
repairs.
We
described
the
documents
that
you
could
submit
to
repairs. We described the documents that you could submit to
to us
us to
show
that
the
damage
to
your
home
was
caused
by
the
disaster
and
show that the damage to your home was caused by the disaster and
has caused
causedunsafe
unsafeor
orunlivable
unlivable conditions.
conditions.
has

We have
have reviewed your
your appeal
appeal and
and any additional documents
documents that
that
you may have
have provided,
provided, along
along with
with the FEMA
FEMA inspection(s)
on
inspection(s)
determined that
that our
our initial
initial decision
your home. We have determined
decision was
correct
that
you
did
not
suffer
disaster
related
damage
that made
made it
it
correct that you did not suffer disaster related damage that
unsafe for
for you to live in your
unsafe
your home.
home.
61.
61.

Mr.
ruling on
on whether
whetherFEMA
FEMA fairly
fairly considered
Mr. Benavidez
Benavidez seeks
seeks aaruling
considered his application for

housing
repair assistance
minimize the
the deterioration
deterioration of
of his
and to
to protect
protect himself
himself and
housing repair
assistance totominimize
his home
home and
and his
his

wife
wife from
from harm.
harm.
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e.
e.

Maria
Maria Gallardo’s
Gallardo’sroof
rooflost
lostshingles,
shingles,destroying
destroyingher
herdaughter’s
daughter’s bedroom
bedroom and
and causing
causing water
to
to stream
stream into the
the home
home and
and mold
mold to
to grow
growon
onthe
thesheetrock
sheetrockand
and carpet,
carpet, but
but she
she was
was denied
denied
housing
repair
assistance
due
to
“insufficient
damage.”
housing repair assistance due to “insufficient damage.”
62.
62.

Plaintiff Maria
Plaintiff
MariaGallardo
Gallardohas
hasbut
butone
onehome,
home, located
located in
in San
San Juan, Hidalgo County,
County, Texas.
Texas.

Ms. Gallardo has
lived there
there for
for over twenty years
years with
with her
her family,
family, which
has lived
which at
at the time Hurricane
Dolly
Dollystruck
struckincluded
includedher
herhusband,
husband, Rafael,
Rafael, her adult daughter Belinda, and Belinda’s three
children,
11 months.
months.
children, ages
ages 6,
6, 4,
4, and
and 11

63.
63.

The Gallardos live in extreme poverty, with
with an
about $7,800.
$7,800. Rafael
an annual income of about

suffered
has partial
partial paralysis on one
one side
side of
of his body and impaired vision
suffered aa stroke and has
vision as
as aa result.
64.
64.

During
During Hurricane
Hurricane Dolly,
Dolly,the
theroof
roofofofthe
theGallardos’
Gallardos’home
homewas
was damaged.
damaged. Shingles
Shingles were

torn off
off the
the roof
roof by
by the
the wind,
wind, causing
causing the roof to leak. The
Thesheetrock
sheetrock in
in the
the ceiling
ceiling and
and walls
walls was
was
soaked.
and has
hasbegun
begunrotting
rottingand
andgrowing
growingmold
mold and
andmildew.
mildew. The
soaked. The carpet got wet, and
The bedroom
where Belinda lived
lived with
withher
her children
childrenwas
was destroyed.
destroyed. Whenever
Wheneverititrains,
rains,water
waterstreams
streams down the

interior
interior walls.
walls. There
Thereisisaa pungent
pungent odor of
of mold
mold and
and mildew
mildew in
in the
the home.
home.
65.
65.

The
The Gallardos
Gallardos do
do not
not have
have insurance
insurance or
or any
any other
other means
means to
to make
make the
the repairs.
repairs.

66.
66.

The
The Gallardos applied for FEMA
FEMAhome
homerepair
repairassistance
assistance under 42 U.S.C. § 5174(c)(2).

67.
67.

FEMA
Gallardos’ home.
FEMAsent
sent an
an inspector to the Gallardos’
home. The
Theinspector
inspectordid
didnot
notspeak
speak Spanish,
Spanish,

and
speak English,
English, so
so Ms.
Ms. Gallardo’s
Gallardo’s daughter
and Ms. Gallardo
Gallardo does
does not speak
daughter Belinda
Belinda translated
translated the
the

conversation. The
The inspector
inspector told
toldMs.
Ms.Gallardo,
Gallardo,as
astranslated
translated by
by Belinda,
Belinda, that
that the
the home
home was

unsafe
to continue
continue to
to live
live in.
unsafe to
68.
68.

On
2, FEMA
FEMA sent
On or
or about
about September
September 2,
sent Ms.
Ms. Gallardo
Gallardoaa letter
letter denying
denyinghousing
housingassistance,
assistance,

listing
for denial
denialas
as“IID-Ineligible
“IID-Ineligible - Insufficient
listing the
the reason
reason for
Insufficient Damage”
Damage” and
and providing nothing but
the
form explanation
the form
explanation quoted
quoted in
in paragraph
paragraph 28
28 above.
above.
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69.
69.

The
Gallardos appealed
FEMA’s decision
The Gallardos
appealed FEMA’s
decision on
on September
September 24,
24, 2008.
2008. Ms.
Ms. Gallardo
Gallardo appealed
appealed

FEMA’s
the FEMA
FEMA inspector
FEMA’sdecision
decisionbecause
because of
of the
the statements
statements the
inspector made
made about
about her
her home
home being
being

unsafe
to live
live in and the
the reason
reasonlisted
listedin
in her
herdenial
denialletter
letterfrom
from FEMA
FEMA are aa contradiction.
contradiction. Ms.
unsafe to
Gallardo provided FEMA
FEMAaacontactor
contactor estimate
estimate for
for repairs
repairs included
included in
in the
the appeal.
appeal.
70.
70.

Upon receiving FEMA’s
FEMA’sdenial
denialletter
letterfor
forhousing
housingassistance,
assistance, Belinda
Belinda and
and her children

were
associated with
with
were forced
forced to
to relocate
relocate to
to Iowa
Iowato
tobecause
because of
of the
the serious
serious health
health concerns
concerns associated

constant
exposureto
tomold
mold and
andmildew
mildew in
in children
children and
and infants.
infants. Belinda
that without
without
constant exposure
Belinda reasoned
reasoned that
financial
financial assistance
assistance from FEMA
FEMAtotomake
makenecessary
necessary repairs,
repairs, her
her mother’s home
home would
would not
not be
be safe
safe

and habitable
habitable for
for her young children. However,
Texas to
to live
live
However,she
shehopes
hopes to be able to return to Texas
with
family relied
with her
her mother,
mother, because
because the
the family
reliedon
onsharing
sharingincome
incomeand
andexpenses
expenses to
to make
make ends
ends meet.
meet.

71.
71.

According
estimate Ms.
Ms. Gallardo
Gallardo obtained,
obtained,itit will
will cost approximately
According to
to the
the contractor estimate

$5,910.00
repairs to
to the
the Gallardo’s
Gallardo’s home.
$5,910.00 to
to make
make the
the necessary
necessary repairs
home.

72.
72.

On October
18, 2008,
2008, FEMA
FEMA sent
denying
On
October 18,
sent Ms.
Ms. Gallardo
Gallardo aa letter
letter denying
denying her
her appeal
appeal and
and denying

her request
request for
for repair
repair assistance.
assistance. Quoted
Quoted below
below is
is the
the complete
completeand
andonly
only explanation
explanation that
thatFEMA
FEMA

provided for
for its
its denial
denial of
ofMs.
Ms.Gallardo’s
Gallardo’sappeal
appealfor
forhome
homerepair
repairassistance:
assistance:

oneof
of FEMA’s
FEMA’s decisions regarding
regarding your
your application
application for
You recently appealed
appealed one
disaster
assistance.
We
have
thoroughly
reviewed
your
case
including
all of
of the
disaster assistance. We have thoroughly reviewed your case including all
the
information and
new information
and documents
documents you provided.
provided. Our
Our decision(s)
decision(s) about
about your
your appeal
appeal
is listed below.

CATEGORIES
Home
Home Repair
Repair
================
Total Grant Amount:

DETERMINATION
IIDIID- Ineligible
Ineligible--Insufficient
InsufficientDamage
Damage
===========
$0.00
$0.00

IID
IID -- Ineligible
Ineligible -- Insufficient
InsufficientDamage
Damage
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In a previous letter, we explained
explained that
that you
you were
were not
not eligible
eligible for
FEMA housing
whenFEMA
FEMA inspected
FEMA
housingassistance
assistance because
because when
inspected your
home
it
was
determined
that
the
disaster
had
not
caused
your home
home it was determined that the disaster had not caused your
home
to
unsafe to
to live
live in.
to be
be unsafe
in. This
This determination
determinationwas
was based
based solely on
on the
the
damage
to
your
home
that
is
related
to
this
disaster.
We
explained
damage to your home that is related to this disaster. We explained
that
some minor
minor damage,
that although
although the
the disaster
disaster may
may have
have caused
caused some
damage, itit
reasonable to
to expect
expect you
you or
or your landlord
landlord to
was reasonable
to make
make these
these
repairs.
We
described
the
documents
that
you
could
submit
to
repairs. We described the documents that you could submit to
to us
us to
show that
to your
show
that the
the damage
damage to
your home
home was
was caused
caused by
by the
the disaster
disaster and
and
has
caused
unsafe
or
unlivable
conditions.
has caused unsafe or unlivable conditions.
We
reviewed your
any additional
additional documents
We have
have reviewed
your appeal
appeal and
and any
documents that
that
you may have
have provided,
provided, along
along with
with the FEMA
FEMA inspection(s)
inspection(s) on
your home. We have determined
determined that
that our
our initial
initial decision
decision was
correct
correct that
that you
you did
did not
not suffer
sufferdisaster
disaster related
related damage
damage that made it
unsafe for
for you to live in your
unsafe
your home.
home.
73.
73.

Despite FEMA’s
FEMA’s denial
with the
the FEMA
FEMA inspector’s
denial of
ofher
her appeal,
appeal, Ms. Gallardo agrees
agrees with

assessment
thather
herhome
homeisissignificantly
significantly damaged
damaged and
andisisunsafe
unsafeto
tolive
live in.
in. She
assessment that
She is
is concerned
concerned that

she
andher
herfamily
family will
will be
she and
be sickened by the rotting ceiling,
ceiling, walls,
walls, and
and carpeting in their
their home,
home,

which will
willlikely
likelyget
getworse
worseas
asthe
the roof
roof continues
continues to leak.
Jose
Gonzales was
was denied
denied any
any housing
housing assistance
assistancebenefits
benefitsto
torepair
repair over
over $7800.00
$7800.00 in
in
f.
Jose Gonzales
damage
to his
his recently
recently refurbished,
refurbished, disability-accessible
disability-accessible home,
home,due
dueto
to“insufficient
“insufficient damage.”
damage to

74.
74.

Plaintiff
PlaintiffJose
Jose Gonzales’s only
only home
home is located in Harlingen,
Harlingen, Cameron
Cameron County,
County, Texas.
Texas.

75.
75.

Mr.
years old
old and
andisisquadriplegic.
quadriplegic. He and
and his
his wife
wife Marcelina struggle to
Mr. Gonzales
Gonzales is 50 years

meet
using their
their annual
annual food
food stamp
stamp allotment
allotment of $756
meet their needs
needs using
$756 and
and the $7,644 of supplemental
supplemental

security income that Mr.
Mr. Gonzales
receives annually
annually as
asaaresult
resultof
ofhis
histotal
total disability.
disability.
Gonzales receives
76.
76.

Prior to Hurricane
from a non-profit
non-profit agency
Hurricane Dolly,
Dolly,Mr.
Mr.Gonzales
Gonzaleshad
hadreceived
received assistance
assistance from
agency

for
with aa
for various
various modifications
modificationsthat
thatmade
made his
his home
home more
more accommodating
accommodating to
to aa person
person with

wheelchair. Those
Those modifications
modificationsincluded
includedaaramp,
ramp,increasing
increasingthe
the size
size of
of the
the bathroom,
bathroom, and
and
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widening
Mr. Gonzales
widening of
of some
some of
of the
the home’s
home’s doors.
doors. The
Theagency
agencythat
that assisted
assisted Mr.
Gonzales with
with these
these

modifications
he could
could not
not afford
afford to pay for them.
modifications provided
provided them
them for
forfree,
free,because
because he
77.
77.

Hurricane
Hurricane Dolly
Dollycaused
caused extensive
extensive structural
structural and
and roofing
roofingdamage
damage to
to the
the Gonzales
Gonzales home.
home.

Dolly’s
to warp.
warp. The roof then
Dolly’swinds
windsblew
blewshingles
shingles off
offthree
three quarters
quarters of
of his roof
roof and
and caused
caused itit to
leaked,
causing damage
damageto
tosome
someinterior
interior walls
walls of
of the home
home interior
interior walls
leaked, causing
walls of
of the
the home
home and
and the
the

growth of mildew
mildew and
and mold.
78.
78.

A
estimated that
that itit will
will cost
A licensed
licensed contractor
contractor has
has estimated
cost $7,829.81
$7,829.81 to
to repair
repair the
the disasterdisaster-

related
related damage.
damage.

79.
79.

The
family does
to
The Gonzales
Gonzales family
does not
not have
have any
any insurance
insurance to
to cover
cover the
the repairs,
repairs, or
or other
other means
means to

make
the repairs.
repairs.
make the

80.
80.

Mr. Gonzales
Mr.
Gonzales applied for
for FEMA
FEMAhome
homerepair
repairassistance
assistance under 42 U.S.C. § 5174(c) (2).

81.
81.

FEMA
home. The
The inspector
inspector took
took pictures
FEMAsent
sent an
an inspector
inspector to
to the
the Gonzales
Gonzales home.
pictures of
of the
the home
home

and told Mr.
Mr. Gonzales
he should
should await
await aa decision
decisionby
by FEMA.
FEMA.
Gonzales that he
82.
82.

FEMA
FEMAsent
sent Mr.
Mr.Gonzales
Gonzalesaa letter
letter denying
denyinghome
homerepair
repairassistance
assistance on August 5,
5, 2008.
2008.

83.
83.

Mr.
Mr. Gonzales
Gonzales went
went to
to the
the FEMA
FEMADisaster
Disaster Recovery
Recovery Center
Center in
in Harlingen
Harlingenand
andasked
asked aa

FEMA
FEMAworker
workerwhy
whyhe
hehad
hadbeen
been denied.
denied. The
Theworker
workertold
toldhim
himthat
thathis
hisdamages
damageswere
werenot
notcaused
caused
by
by the
the hurricane
hurricane but
but rather
rather were
were due
due to
to deferred
deferred maintenance,
maintenance, and
and that
that he
he should
should already
already be
be used
used

to living
livingininaahome
home in
in these
these conditions.
84.
84.

Mr.
form letter
Mr. Gonzales
Gonzales received
received aa form
letter with
withthe
theidentical
identicallanguage
language quoted
quoted in
inParagraph
Paragraph 28
28

above
asFEMA’s
FEMA’s only written
above as
written explanation for his denial.
85.
85.

Mr.
Mr. Gonzales
Gonzales submitted
submitted appeals
appeals on
on August
August 21,
21, 2008,
2008, and
and on
on September
September 5,
5, 2008,
2008, and
and

provided
provided aa contractor
contractor statement.
statement.
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86.
86.

FEMA
FEMAdenied
denied Mr.
Mr.Gonzales’s
Gonzales’sappeals
appeals on October 14, 2008.

87.
87.

Quoted below is the complete
complete and
and only
only explanation
explanation that
that FEMA
FEMA provided for
for this
this second
second

denial
denial of
of home
home repair
repair assistance:
assistance:

thoroughly reviewed your case
caseincluding
including all
all of the new information
information and
We have
have thoroughly
and
documents
you
provided.
Our
decision(s)
about
your
appeal
is
listed
below:
documents you provided. Our decision(s) about

CATEGORIES
CATEGORIES
Housing
Housing Assistance
Assistance

==============
Total Grant
Grant Amount:
Amount: $0.00
$0.00

DETERMINATION
DETERMINATION
INO- Ineligible
Ineligible -- Other
Other
==================

IneligibleIneligible- Additional
AdditionalRepair
RepairAssistance
Assistance
We have
reviewed your
your appeal
appealfor
for additional
additional Home
Home Repair
Repair and
have reviewed
and any
documents
you may
may have
haveprovided,
provided,along
alongwith
with the
the FEMA
FEMA inspection(s) of
documents you
your
home.
We
have
determined
that
the
previous
amount
your home. We have determined that the previous amount of
ofassistance
assistance
we provided was correct. As
Asaa result,
result, your
yourappeal
appeal is
is not
not approved
approved and you
are
not eligible
eligible for additional
are not
additional FEMA
FEMAassistance
assistance of this type.
This decision only
only applies
applies to your
your appeal for FEMA
FEMAassistance
assistance of this
type. Your
Yourrequest
request for
forany
anyother
otherform
formofofassistance
assistance is
is considered
considered
separately.
separately.
88.
88.

Mr.
FEMA has
Mr. Gonzales
Gonzales claims that FEMA
has violated
violated his
his statutory
statutory right
right to
toprocedures
procedures that

comply
ensure that
that his
his claim
claim for
for
comply with
with42
42U.S.C.
U.S.C.§§5151(a),
5151(a),and
and seeks
seeks a ruling on
on this
this issue
issue to ensure
housing
resolvedfairly,
fairly, and as
as promptly
promptly as
as possible
possible to
to minimize
minimize threats
housing repair
repair assistance
assistance isisresolved
threats to his
shelter
safety.
shelter and
and safety.

Agustina
g.
Agustina Iglesias’s
Iglesias’sdamaged
damaged roof
roofand
and sheetrock
sheetrock have
have made
made her
her daughter
daughter sick,
sick, but
but she
she
sent an
an unintelligible
unintelligible demand
was sent
demand for
fordocumentation
documentationofofher
herdamages
damagesand
andhas
has been
been denied
denied
housing
benefits.
housing assistance
assistance benefits.

89.
89.

Plaintiff
PlaintiffAgustina
AgustinaIglesias’s
Iglesias’shome
homeisislocated
located in
inSan
San Benito,
Benito, Cameron
Cameron County,
County, Texas.
Texas.

90.
90.

Ms.
head of
of aa household
household that
that includes
includes five
five of
of her
Ms. Iglesias,
Iglesias, 44,
44, is
is aa single
single mother
mother and
and the
the head
her

children,
children, ages
ages 18,
18, 17,
17, 15,
15, 13,
13, and
and 1.
1.
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91.
91.

Ms. Iglesias supports
supports aafamily
family of six on approximately $20,000 annually. She
She is a

temporary worker and will
will take
take any
any job
jobshe
she can
can find
find to
to pay
pay her
her bills.
bills.She
Shehas
has worked
workedas
as aa health

care
provider and
and in
in packaging
packaging frozen
frozen food.
food. She
care provider
She currently
currently is
is working
workingas
as aa roofer’s
roofer’sassistant.
assistant.
92.
92.

damagesto
toMs.
Ms. Iglesias’
Iglesias’ home.
home. Shingles came
Hurricane Dolly
Dollycaused
caused extensive damages
came off the

roof and water flowed in
break off
off the ceiling
in through
through the
the ceiling,
ceiling, causing
causing sheetrock to break

throughout the house.
house. Additionally,
Additionally, atatleast
least one
one wall
wall of
ofher
her home
home has fallen down.
93.
93.

Ms.
Ms. Iglesias
Iglesias cannot
cannot afford
afford to
to fix
fixher
herhome
homeand
anddoes
does not
not have
have any
any insurance
insurance to
to cover
cover the
the

necessary
repairs.
necessary repairs.

94.
94.

Ms. Iglesias and her
her five
five children have no other
other home
home to
to live
live in, nor any friends or

relatives with
with whom
are forced
forced to
to remain
remain in
in their damaged
house. One
One of
of Ms.
whomthey
they can
can stay,
stay, and are
damaged house.
Iglesias’s
of the
Iglesias’s daughters
daughters suffers
suffers from
fromsevere
severe allergies,
allergies, which
whichhave
havebeen
beenaggravated
aggravated because
because of
the

condition
home from
from
condition of
of the
the home.
home. Her
Hereyes
eyes are
are constantly
constantly watery
watery and
and she is frequently sent home
school
of the
the severity
severity of
of her
school because
because of
her reactions.
reactions.

95.
95.

Ms. Iglesias applied for
for FEMA
FEMAhome
homerepair
repairassistance
assistance under 42 U.S.C. § 5174(c)(2).

96.
96.

On
On August
August 19,
19, 2008,
2008, FEMA
FEMAsent
sent Ms.
Ms.Iglesias
Iglesiasan
an award
award letter
letter that
that did
didnot
notaddress
address her
her

request
for home
and awarded
awardedher
heronly
only $406.63
$406.63 for
for damaged
personal property.
property.
request for
home repair
repair assistance
assistance and
damaged personal

97.
97.

Subsequently,
Subsequently, Ms. Iglesias
Iglesias submitted
submitted documentation
documentation to
to prove
prove that
that she
she owned
owned her
her home,
home,

in
in an
an effort
effort to
to obtain
obtainhome
homerepair
repairassistance.
assistance.
98.
98.

On October 24, 2008, FEMA
FEMA sent
additional
sent Ms.
Ms. Iglesias
Iglesias a letter requesting additional

documentation to support her request
requestfor
for home
home repair
repair assistance.
assistance.FEMA’s
FEMA’s request for
documentation
was incomplete
incomplete and
and confusing.
confusing. Quoted
documentation was
Quoted below
belowisisthe
thelanguage
language requesting
requesting

additional documentation:
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This
This letter
letter confirms
confirmsthat
thatwe
wehave
havereceived
received your
yourcorrespondence
correspondence requesting
requesting an
an
appeal of
of our decision
decision in
in your application for
appeal
for Housing
Housing Assistance
Assistance from the
Federal
EmergencyManagement
ManagementAgency
Agency(FEMA).
(FEMA). In
Federal Emergency
In order
order to
to evaluate
evaluate your
need additional
additional documentation.
documentation. …
situation, we need

ONE ITEMIZED
from
a licensed
contractor
ITEMIZEDESTIMATE
ESTIMATE
from
a licensed
contractorfor
fordisaster
disasterrelated
related
damages
thefollowing
following items.
items. (Your
verifiable
damages totothe
(Your estimate
estimate must include aa verifiable
contractor
telephone number.)
number.)
contractor name
name and
and telephone

TWO
ESTIMATES
from
licensed
contractors
TWO ITEMIZED
ITEMIZED
ESTIMATES
from
licensed
contractorsfor
fordisaster
disasterrelated
related
damages
thefollowing
following items.
items. (Your
must include
include verifiable
verifiable
damages totothe
(Your estimates
estimates must
contractor
telephone numbers.)
numbers.)
contractor names
names and
and telephone
Heating
Heating systems
systems

(N/A)
99.
99.

As
Ms. Iglesias
remains pending
pending at
at this
this time.
time.
As far
far as
as Ms.
Iglesias knows,
knows, her
her appeal
appeal remains

h.
A
h.
A tree
tree fell
fell on
on Noe
Noe and
and Veronica
Veronica Jimenez’s
Jimenez’s home,
home, breaking
breaking three
three windows
windows and
and causing
causing
exposed walls
walls and ceiling,
ceiling, but
water damage
damage to exposed
but they
they were
were denied
denied any
any housing
housingassistance
assistance benefits
due
to “insufficient
“insufficient damage.”
due to
damage.”

100.
100.

Noe
Veronica Jimenez,
both 68
68 years
years old,
old, are
are an
an elderly
elderly married
married couple
couple supporting
supporting
Noe and
and Veronica
Jimenez, both

their two grandchildren.
101.
101.

The
Jimemezes live
live in extreme poverty, with
with an
The Jimemezes
an annual
annual income of about
about $11,760
$11,760 to

support
household of
of four, including
support a household
includingthemselves
themselves and
and their
their two
twograndchildren,
grandchildren,ages
ages 15
15 and
and 11.
11.
102.
102.

The Jimenezes’
Jimenezes’ only
only home
home is
is located
locatedin
inEdinburg,
Edinburg, Hidalgo
Hidalgo County,
County, Texas.
Texas. Mr.
Mr. Jimenez
Jimenez

inherited
from his
and has
haslived
lived there
there with
with his wife
wife since
inherited the
the home
home from
his grandparents,
grandparents, and
since 1977.
1977.
103.
103.

Hurricane
the Jimenezes’
Jimenezes’ home.
home. Dolly’s
Dolly’s winds
Hurricane Dolly
Dollycaused
caused damage
damage to the
windscaused
caused aa tree
tree to
to

fall
fall on
on the
the roof,
roof,and
andwinds
windsdamaged
damaged the
the siding
sidingon
onone
oneside
side of
ofthe
thehouse
house and
and destroyed
destroyed three
three

windows.
exposed walls
walls and
and ceiling.
ceiling.
windows. Water
Waterentered
enteredand
and damaged
damaged the
the exposed
104.
104.

A
A contractor
contractor estimated
estimated that it would
would cost
cost $1,980
$1,980 to
to repair
repair the
the home.
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105.
105.

The
do not
not have
have any
any insurance
insurance to
to cover
cover the
to make
The Jimenezes
Jimenezes do
the repairs,
repairs, or
or other
other means
means to
make the
the

repairs.
repairs.

106.
106.

The
Jimenezes applied
applied for
for FEMA
FEMA home
under 42
42 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§ 5174(c)(2).
5174(c)(2).
The Jimenezes
home repair
repair assistance
assistance under

107.
107.

FEMA
FEMAsent
sent an
an inspector
inspector to
to the
the Jimenezes’
Jimenezes’ home,
home, who
who listened
listened to
to the
the Jimenezes’
Jimenezes’

description
causedby
byDolly.
Dolly.
description of
of the
the damage
damage caused
108.
108.

On
On or
or about
about August
August 4,
4, FEMA
FEMAsent
sentthe
theJimenezes
Jimenezes aa letter
letter denying
denying housing
housingassistance,
assistance,

listing
for denial
denialas
as“IID-Ineligible
“IID-Ineligible - Insufficient
listing the
the reason
reason for
Insufficient Damage”
Damage” and
and providing nothing but
the
form explanation
the form
explanation quoted
quoted in
in paragraph
paragraph 28
28 above.
above.
109.
109.

The
appealedand
andprovided
provided aacontractor
contractor statement.
statement. Their
Their appeal
The Jimenezes
Jimenezes appealed
appeal remains
remains

pending. They
Theyseek
seek to
to fairly
fairlyresolve
resolvetheir
theirclaim
claimfor
forhousing
housingassistance
assistance as
as promptly
promptly as
as possible to
minimize
minimize threats
threats to
to their
their shelter,
shelter, safety,
safety, and
and health.
health.
Ernesto
and Norma
Norma Lopez
Lopez saw
saw their
their entire
flooded, the
the whole
whole roof
i.
Ernesto and
entire house
house flooded,
roof and
and aa bedroom
bedroom
destroyed,
and find
find their home
destroyed, and
home uninhabitable due
due to mold,
mold, but
but they
they were
were denied
denied housing
housing repair
repair
assistance
because
of
allegedly
“insufficient
damage.”
assistance because of allegedly “insufficient damage.”
110.
110.

Ernesto
and Norma
Norma Lopez
Lopez live
live in poverty,
Ernesto and
poverty, with
withan
an annual
annual income of
of about
about $20,000 to

support
household of
of four, including
support a household
includingthemselves
themselves and
and their two
two adult
adult sons,
sons, Carlos
Carlos and
and Leo.
Carlos
Carlos is a
a policeman injured in
in the
the line
line of
ofduty
dutywhen
whenaateenager
teenager shot
shot him
him in
in the
the head.
head.
111.
111.

The Lopezes’ only home
home is located in Harlingen,
Harlingen, Cameron
Cameron County,
County, Texas.
Texas.

112.
112.

Hurricane Dolly
damageto
to the
theLopezes’
Lopezes’home.
home. Hurricane
Hurricane Dolly
Dolly caused
flooding
Dollycaused
caused damage
caused flooding

of
and destroyed
destroyedthe
theentire
entireroof
roof and
andone
oneof
ofthe
thebedrooms.
bedrooms. Sheetrock
Sheetrockisis falling
falling
of the
the entire
entire house,
house, and

from
from the
the ceiling.
ceiling. There
Thereisismold
moldgrowing
growingthroughout
throughoutthe
thehouse.
house.The
Thehouse
houseisisso
sodamaged
damaged that
that the
the

family
moved into
into Ms.
family suffered
suffered with
withrespiratory
respiratoryproblems
problemsand
and cannot
cannot live
livethere,
there, so
so they have moved

Lopez’s mother’s home.
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113.
113.

The Lopezes
to make
The
Lopezes do
do not
not have
have any
any insurance
insurance or
or other
other means
means to
make the
the repairs.
repairs.

114.
114.

The Lopezes
Lopezes applied
applied for
for FEMA
under 42
42 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§ 5174(c)(2).
5174(c)(2).
The
FEMAhome
homerepair
repairassistance
assistance under

115.
115.

FEMA
FEMAsent
sent an
an inspector to the Lopezes’ home, who listened to the Lopezes’ description

of the damage
damagecaused
causedbybyDolly.
Dolly. The
The inspector
inspectorasked
askedMr.
Mr.Lopez
Lopezififhe
hewanted
wantedtoto“relocate.”
“relocate.” Mr.
Mr.
Lopez thought he meant
meant to
to move
move permanently.
permanently. It
was offering
offering
It was
was not clear that the inspector was
rental
rental assistance.
assistance.

116.
116.

FEMA
due to
to insufficient
insufficient damage.
FEMAsent
sent the
the Lopezes
Lopezes aa letter
letter denying
denying repair
repair assistance
assistance due
damage.

117.
117.

The
appealed the
theFEMA
FEMA denial
The Lopezes
Lopezes appealed
denial on
on August
August 20,
20, 2008,
2008, and
and made
made clear
clear that
that they
they

needed
rental assistance
assistancebecause
becausethey
theyhave
havehad
hadtotomove
moveout
outofofthe
thehome
homeuntil
until itit is
is repaired.
needed rental
repaired.

118.
118.

In
to the
the appeal,
appeal, FEMA
FEMA sent
home repair
repair grant
grant of
of $100.59.
In response
response to
sent aa home
$100.59.

119.
119.

A
A contractor
contractor estimated it will
willcost
cost$15,620.00
$15,620.00 to
to repair
repair the
the home.
home.

120.
120.

The
this amount
amount based
on the
the damage
damage incurred
incurred and
and provided
provided aa
The Lopezes
Lopezes appealed
appealed this
based on

contractor
and pictures
pictures of
of the
the damage.
damage. Their
pending.
contractor statement
statement and
Their appeal
appeal remains
remains pending.

Francisca
Perez’s home
home was
wasflooded
flooded with
with two inches
with the
j.
Francisca Perez’s
inches of
of water
water and
and then
then with
the contents
contents
of
her
septic
tank
for
several
days,
but
she
was
denied
any
housing
assistance
benefits
due
to
of her septic tank for several days, but she was denied any housing assistance benefits due to
“insufficient
“insufficient damage.”
damage.”
121.
121.

Plaintiff
PlaintiffFrancisca
FranciscaPerez
Perez is
is the
the head
head of aa household which includes
includes her
her husband
husband Enrique

Silguero
children.
Silguero and
and Ms.
Ms. Perez’s
Perez’s three
three teenage
teenage children.

122.
122.

The
five people
with an
The five
people in
in Ms.
Ms.Perez’s
Perez’s household
household struggle
struggle to
to meet
meet their
their needs
needs with
an annual
annual

food
allotment of
the approximately
approximately $7600
security
food stamp
stamp allotment
of about
about $8300
$8300 and
and the
$7600 in
in supplemental
supplemental security

income that Mr.
Mr. Silguero
each year
year as
asaaresult
resultofofhis
hisdisability.
disability. He suffers from
Silguero receives
receives each
from several
several
serious
ailments that
that cause
causehim
him to
to be
be disabled
disabledincluding
including arthritis
arthritis and
ulcer.
serious ailments
and an
an ulcer.
123.
123.

Ms.
only home
Ms. Perez’s
Perez’s only
home is
is located
located in
in Elsa,
Elsa, Texas.
Texas. She
She has
has lived
lived there
there since
since 1994.
1994.
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124.
124.

Ms. Perez’s home
home suffered
suffered extensive
extensivedamage
damageasasa aresult
resultofofHurricane
HurricaneDolly.
Dolly. Roof

shingles
and otherwise
otherwise damaged
damaged and
and as
asaaresult,
result,the
theroof
roof leaked.
leaked. The
shingles were
were loosened
loosened and
The home
home was
was

flooded with
with about
about two
two inches
inches of water for
for two
two or
or three
three days. Portions
Portions of
of the
the floor
floor warped
warped and
and
tiles loosened.
loosened. Mold
Moldand
and mildew
mildewdeveloped
developed on
on her
her windows
windows and
and portions of the ceiling
ceiling and
and
walls. Plumbing
toilet unusable
Plumbingproblems
problemsrendered
rendered Ms.
Ms.Perez’s
Perez’s bathtub
bathtub and toilet
unusable for over two
two weeks.
weeks.
125.
125.

Waste
would back
Waste water would
back up
up out
out of
ofthe
the toilet
toiletand
andbathtub
bathtubbecause
because the
the septic
septic tank
tank was
was

overflowing with
with rain
rain water.
water.
126.
126.

Ms.
her husband
husband do
do not
not have
have insurance
insurance to
to cover
cover the
the repairs,
repairs, or
to
Ms. Perez
Perez and
and her
or other
other means
means to

make
the repairs.
repairs. She
to clean
clean the
the restroom
restroom three
three times
times aa day
day for
for two
two weeks
weeks with
with bleach
make the
She had
had to
bleach and
and
other
because the
thesmell
smell was
was unbearable.
unbearable. There
waste everywhere.
everywhere.
other cleaning
cleaning agents
agents because
There was
was waste

127.
127.

Ms.
who suffers
of the
Ms. Perez’s
Perez’s daughter,
daughter, who
suffers from
fromasthma,
asthma, had
had to
to go
go to
to the
the hospital
hospital because
because of
the

foul
foul air
air near
near her
her home.
home.
128.
128.

Ms.
applied for
for FEMA
under 42
42 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§ 5174(c)(2).
5174(c)(2).
Ms. Perez
Perez applied
FEMAhome
homerepair
repairassistance
assistance under

FEMA
FEMAsent
sent an
an inspector to inspect her home. The
The inspector
inspector ignored
ignored Ms.
Ms. Perez’s
Perez’s attempts to
point
damages,walking
walking away from
from her
she was
was speaking.
speaking. He
point out
out the
the disaster-related
disaster-related damages,
her as
as she
He

altogether neglected
neglected to
to inspect
inspectthe
thebathroom
bathroomwith
with the
the non-functioning
non-functioning toilet
toilet and
and bathtub.
129.
129.

On
listing the
On August
August 12,
12, FEMA
FEMAsent
sentMs.
Ms.Perez
Perez aa letter
letter denying
denying housing
housing assistance,
assistance, listing
the

reason
for denial
denialas
as“IID-Ineligible
“IID-Ineligible - Insufficient
reason for
Insufficient Damage”
Damage” and
and providing
providing nothing but the form
explanation
explanation quoted
quoted in
in paragraph
paragraph 28
28 above.
above.

130.
130.

Ms.
appealed on
on August
August 22,
22, 2008,
2008, and
and provided
provided aa contractor
contractor statement,
which was
Ms. Perez
Perez appealed
statement, which
was

costly for
for her
her to
to obtain.
obtain. Most
Mostcontractors
contractorswere
weretoo
tooexpensive
expensiveand
and were
were charging
charging between
between $200

and $250
$250 to
to provide
provide an
an estimate.
estimate. Finally
said he
he would
would do it for
Finally she
she found
found someone
someone who said
for aa more
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reasonable
price. A
for the
reasonable price.
A licensed
licensed contractor
contractor estimated
estimated that
that $6,650.00
$6,650.00 would
would be
be needed
needed for
the
disaster-related
home repairs.
repairs. He
about $50.00
$50.00 for
for his
disaster-related home
He charged
charged her
her about
his estimate.
estimate.
131.
131.

Mrs.
took itit upon
of the
Mrs. Perez
Perez took
upon herself
herself to
topurchase
purchase aa water
water pump
pump and
and empty
empty some
some of
the septic
septic

tank water into her own backyard. ItIttook
tooktwo
twodays
daystotopump
pumpthe
thewaste
waste out
out of
ofthe
the septic
septic tank
tank and
and
into
into the
the yard.
yard. She
She expects
expects rain
rain to
to cause
cause the problem to return.
132.
132.

FEMA
2008. Quoted
FEMAdenied
denied her
her appeal
appeal on November 1, 2008.
Quoted below
below is
is the
the complete

explanation that FEMA
FEMA provided
providedfor
forits
itssecond
seconddenial
denialofofhome
homerepair
repairassistance:
assistance:

You recently appealed
oneof
of FEMA’s
FEMA’s decisions regarding
regarding your
your application
application for
appealed one
disaster
assistance.We
Wehave
havethoroughly
thoroughlyreviewed
reviewed your
your case
caseincluding
including all
all of the
disaster assistance.
the
new information
information and
documents
you
provided.
Our
decision(s)
about
your
appeal
and documents
provided. Our decision(s) about your appeal
is listed below:

CATEGORIES
CATEGORIES

DETERMINATION
DETERMINATION
INO-IneligibleINO-Ineligible- Other
Other
=================
$0.00
$0.00

Home
Home Repair
Repair

===============
Total Grant Amount:

IneligibleIneligible- Additional
AdditionalRepair
RepairAssistance
Assistance
We
We have
have reviewed your appeal
appeal for additional
additional Home
Home Repair
Repair any
any documents
documents
you may have
have provided,
provided, along
along with
with the
the FEMA
FEMA inspection(s)
of
your
inspection(s) your home.
home.
We
we provided
provided
We have
have determined that the previous amount
amount of
of assistance
assistance we
was
correct. As
not
was correct.
Asaa result,
result, your
yourappeal
appeal is
is not
not approved
approved and
and you
you are
are not
eligible
eligible for
for additional
additional FEMA
FEMAassistance
assistance of this type.

This decision only
only applies
applies to your
your appeal for FEMA
FEMAassistance
assistance of this
type. Your
request
for
any
other
form
of
assistance
is
Your request for any other form of assistance is considered
considered
separately.
separately.
133.
133.

Since
Ms. Perez
received her
denial letter,
been diagnosed
diagnosed with
with
Since Ms.
Perez received
her denial
letter, her
her husband
husband has
has been

bronchitis. Other
Othermembers
members of
of her
her family
familyare
are also
also suffering
suffering with
withrespiratory
respiratoryproblems,
problems,and
and some
some
are
using nebulizers
nebulizers up
up to
to four
four times
times aa day
day to
to alleviate
alleviate their
their symptoms.
are using
symptoms.
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Rosa Elia
Elia Villarreal’s
Villarreal’s roof
k.
Rosa
roofblew
blewoff
offher
herhome
homeand
andlanded
landed in
inher
her yard,
yard, and
and her
grandchildren
grandchildren have
have required
required emergency
emergency medical treatment
treatment for mold-related
mold-related illness
illnessbecause
because of the
the
mildew
in
their
home,
but
she
was
denied
housing
repair
assistance.
mildew in their home, but she was denied housing repair assistance.
134.
134.

Plaintiff
PlaintiffRosa
Rosa Elia
Elia Villarreal
Villarrealisisthe
thehead
headof
ofaahousehold
household which
which includes
includes her
her two
two daughters
daughters

and
three grandchildren,
grandchildren, ages
5, 4,
1.
and three
ages 5,
4, and
and 1.

135.
135.

Ms. Villarreal
family live
Villarreal and
and her family
livein
inextreme
extreme poverty. Ms.
Ms.Villarreal
Villarrealworks
worksand
andearns
earns an
an

annual
an annual
annual income
income of $10,
annual income of
of about
about $4,800
$4,800 and
and her
her daughter
daughter works
works and
and earns
earns an
$10, 400.
400.

Both
three children.
children.
Both incomes
incomes support
support aa household
household of three
three adults
adults and three
136.
136.

Ms. Villarreal’s
Villarreal’sonly
onlyhome
homeisis located
located in
in Edinburg,
Edinburg, Hidalgo
Hidalgo County,
County, Texas.
Texas.

137.
137.

Hurricane Dolly
and roofing
roofing damage
to the
theVillarreals’
Villarreals’ home.
Dollycaused
caused extensive structural and
damage to

Dolly’s
roof, blowing
blowing itit off
Dolly’swinds
windsdamaged
damaged the laminate roof,
offand
and into
intothe
the yard.
yard. Her
Herhouse
househas
has no
laminate roof at this time.
138.
138.

Because
there is
is no
no roof,
roof, rainwater
to the
Because there
rainwater is
is leaking
leakinginto
intothe
thehome
homeand
andhas
hascaused
caused damage
damage to
the

walls and the ceiling.
ceiling. Mold
Moldisisspreading
spreadingthroughout
throughoutthe
the house.
house. Dolly
Dollyalso
alsoshook
shookthe
thehouse
house so
that
appearedin
in the
the walls
walls and
and ceiling.
ceiling.
that cracks appeared
139.
139.

Ms. Villarreal
Villarrealand
andher
herfamily
familylost
lostpersonal
personalproperty
propertysuch
suchas
as mattresses,
mattresses, furniture, and

clothing
clothing in
in the
the home
home during
during the
the disaster.
disaster.
140.
140.

Ms. Villarreal’s
Villarreal’sgrandchildren
grandchildrenhave
have had
had to
to be
be taken to Edinburg Children's Hospital

emergency
several times
times for
for treatment for
for allergies
emergency room several
allergies due
due to the mold.
141.
141.

A
repairs to
to the
the home
home will
will cost $5300.00 for labor
A contractor
contractor estimated
estimated that the repairs
labor and

$4701.98 for materials.
142.
142.

Ms.
Ms. Villarreal
Villarrealdoes
doesnot
nothave
haveinsurance
insurance or
or other
othermeans
means to
to make
make the
the repairs.
repairs.

143.
143.

Ms. Villarreal
Villarrealapplied
appliedfor
forFEMA
FEMAhome
homerepair
repairassistance
assistance under
under 42 U.S.C. § 5174(c)(2).
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144.
144.

FEMA
inspector to
to Ms.
Ms. Villarreal’s
Villarreal’s home.
FEMA sent
sent an inspector
home. The
The inspector
inspector did
did not
not inspect all of the

damage.
damage. The
The inspector
inspector did
did not
notclimb
climbup
uptotosee
seethe
theroof
roofdamage
damage and
and did
didnot
notenter
enter the
the damaged
damaged

parts
of the
home. The
parts of
the home.
The inspector
inspector did
didnot
notspeak
speak Spanish.
Spanish.
145.
145.

FEMA sent
FEMA
sent Ms.
Ms. Villarreal
Villarrealaaletter
letterdenying
denyinghome
homerepair
repairassistance
assistance on August 18, 2008.

146.
146.

Quoted below is the
the complete
complete and
andonly
onlyexplanation
explanationthat
thatFEMA
FEMA provided
provided for
for its denial of

home
home repair
repair assistance:
assistance:

recognize how
how difficult
difficult aa time this is for
family and
We recognize
for you
you and your family
and we
understand
that
may
people
need
help
following
a
disaster.
We
are
committed to
understand that may people need help following a disaster.
providing you
can, including
including important information to begin your
providing
you any
any help we can,
recovery.
Management Agency
Agency (FEMA)
(FEMA) and
The Federal Emergency Management
and State
State of
of Texas
Texas have
have
carefully
considered
all
available
information
regarding
your
request
for
carefully considered
information regarding your request
assistance. Our decision(s) about your request
is listed
listed below:
assistance.
request is

CATEGORIES
Housing
Housing Assistance
Assistance

Medical
Personal
Property
Personal Property

================
Total Grant Amount:

DETERMINATION
INR- Ineligible -–No
No Relocation
Relocation
IID
IID -–Ineligible
Ineligible-–Insufficient
InsufficientDamage
Damage
IID
Ineligible
Insufficient
Damage
IID – Ineligible – Insufficient Damage
===========
$0.00
$0.00

INR
INR - Ineligible
Ineligible -– Will
WillNot
NotRelocate
Relocate
Based on
on our
our records,
records,you
you told
told the
the FEMA
FEMA inspector that you were not
Based
going
to
move
from
your
damaged
home
going to move from your damaged home while
whilerepairs
repairs are
are being
being made.
made.
do not
not plan
plan to
to move,
move, you
you are
arenot
noteligible
eligiblefor
for FEMA
FEMA rental
Since you do
assistance
at this
this time.
time.
assistance at
If
If you
youdo
doneed
need to
to move
move while
whilerepairs
repairsare
arebeing
beingmade,
made, please
please contact
contact the
the

FEMA
FEMA helpline.
helpline.
147.
147.

Ms.
Ms. Villarreal
Villarrealappealed
appealed and
and provided
provided aa contractor
contractor statement.
statement.
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148.
148.

FEMA
FEMA sent
sent Ms.
Ms. Villarreal
Villarrealanother
anotherletter
letter on
on November
November 11,
11, 2008,
2008, but itit awarded
awarded her only

rental
anddid
didnot
notmention
mention decisions
decisionson
onany
anyother
otherform
form of
of FEMA
FEMA assistance.
is
rental assistance
assistance and
assistance. She
She is

not certain whether FEMA
FEMA is
is still
stillconsidering
consideringher
herapplication
applicationfor
forhousing
housingrepair
repairassistance.
assistance.

Cruz Alejandro
l.
Alejandro “Alex”
“Alex”Zamora’s
Zamora’shouse
housemoved
movedon
onits
itsfoundation
foundationand
andwas
was rendered
rendered
structurally unstable,
forcing
his
family
to
move
into
a
credit-card
financed
travel
trailer for
unstable, forcing
family to move into
financed travel trailer
safety,
denied any
any housing
housing assistance
assistancebenefits
benefitsdue
duetoto“insufficient
“insufficient damage.”
safety, but he
he was denied
damage.”
149.
149.

Cruz Alejandro “Alex”
“Alex”Zamora
Zamoraisisaadisabled
disabled U.S.
U.S. Army
Armyveteran
veteran whose
whose only
only home
home is

located in Harlingen,
Harlingen, Cameron
Cameron County, Texas. He
Hehas
has lived
lived there
there since
since October 2001.
150.
150.

Mr.
head of
of aa household
householdof
offive,
five, which
which includes
includes his
his wife,
wife, Leticia
Leticia Zamora,
Mr. Zamora
Zamora is the head
Zamora,

and
their three
and their
three children,
children, ages
ages 14,
14, 12,
12, and
and 9.
9.

151.
151.

Mr.
and his
his family
family live
the poverty
poverty line.
line. As
Mr. Zamora
Zamora and
live close
close to the
As aa partially
partially disabled
disabled U.S.

Army
Mr. Zamora
$471aamonth
monthininU.S.
U.S.Veterans
VeteransAdministration
Administrationbenefits.
benefits. He
Army veteran,
veteran, Mr.
Zamora receives
receives $471
also works as
as aa computer
computerinformation-technology
information-technology consultant
consultant for
for a company
company called
called “Small
“Small

Business
Computer Services,”
Services,” although
althoughwork
work there
there isisonly
only available
available to
to him
him sporadically. He
Business Computer
He has
has
earned
approximately $20,000
$20,000 from
from this work in
earned approximately
in 2008
2008 to
to date.
date.
152.
152.

Hurricane Dolly
damageto
tothe
theZamoras’
Zamoras’home.
home. The
The family
family
Dollycaused
caused extensive structural damage

took shelter in their
hard that
that the
the family
family
their house
house during the storm. The
The winds
windsshook
shook the
the house
house so hard
heard
cracking, popping noise, and
and felt
felt the
house move
move on
on its
its foundation.
foundation.
heard aa cracking,
the house
153.
153.

Afterward,
an adult
adult stepping on the
the floor
floor would
Afterward,the
thehouse
house was
was so
so unstable
unstable that an
would cause
cause the
the

walls to tremble.
154.
154.

The house
house was
wasstructurally
structurally stable
stableuntil
until it moved on its foundation during
during the
the hurricane.

155.
155.

Due
from the
inward, and
Due to
to the
the damage
damage from
the hurricane,
hurricane, one
one wall
wall of
ofthe
thehouse
house has
has bent
bent inward,
and there
there

are
cracks in
in the
are cracks
the sheetrock
sheetrock of
of the
the house.
house.
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156.
156.

Dolly’s
Dolly’swinds
windsalso
alsodamaged
damaged the
the roof
roof of
ofthe
the house,
house, blowing
blowing off
offshingles
shinglesand
and boards
boards so
so

that
that water
water entered
entered the
the house
house and
and caused
caused damage.
damage.

157.
157.

The
to cover
The Zamoras
Zamoras do
do not
not have
have any
any insurance
insurance to
cover the
the repairs,
repairs, or
or other
other means
means to
to make
make the
the

repairs
repairs that
that are
are needed.
needed.

158.
158.

On
On or
or about
about August 5,
5, 2008,
2008, the
the Zamoras
Zamoras applied for FEMA
FEMAhome
homerepair
repairassistance
assistance

under 42 U.S.C. § 5174(c)(2).
159.
159.

FEMA
FEMAsent
sent an
an inspector to the Zamoras’ home. Mr.
Mr.Zamora
Zamoraexplained
explainedwhat
whathappened,
happened,

and
and tried to
to show
show the
the inspector
inspector the
the damage.
damage. The
The inspector
inspector was
was rude
rude to
to the
the Zamoras
Zamoras and did not
not

allow
allow them
them to
to say
say anything
anything or
or point
pointout
outany
anyof
ofthe
thedamages.
damages.
160.
160.

On August 12, FEMA
listing the
FEMAsent
sent Mr.
Mr.Zamora
Zamoraaa letter
letterdenying
denyinghousing
housingassistance,
assistance, listing

reason
for denial
denialas
as“IID-Ineligible
“IID-Ineligible - Insufficient
reason for
Insufficient Damage”
Damage” and
and providing
providing nothing but the form
explanation
explanation quoted
quoted in
in paragraph
paragraph 28
28 above.
above.

161.
161.

Mr.
family did
Mr. Zamora
Zamora and his family
didnot
notfeel
feelsafe
safe living
livingininaahouse
house that
that was
was no longer

structurally
damaged itit so
so much
much that
that the
the walls
walls trembled when
structurallysound
sound because
because the hurricane had damaged
when aa

person
walked on
on the
the floor.
floor.
person walked
162.
162.

Since
FEMA had
on or
or about
about August
August 22,
22, 2008,
2008, Mr.
Mr.
Since FEMA
had denied
denied them
them aid
aid to
to repair
repair the
the house,
house, on

Zamora
1987 Skylark
Skylark travel
Zamora and his wife bought
bought aa used,
used, 1987
travel trailer,
trailer, advertised
advertised by
by the
the seller
seller as
as

“Sleeps
4,” in
place to
to live.
live.
“Sleeps 4,”
in order
order to
to have
have aa safe
safe place
163.
163.

The
Zamoras moved
moved into
into the
the trailer,
trailer, and
are living
living there
is not
not safe
for
The Zamoras
and are
there now
now because
because itit is
safe for

them
by the
the hurricane.
hurricane.
them to
to live
live in
intheir
theirhouse,
house,due
due to
tothe
thedamage
damage caused
caused by
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164.
164.

Because
the Zamoras
Zamorasdid
did not
not have
have the
themoney
moneyto
to pay
pay upfront
upfront for
for the
of the
Because the
the $3,000
$3,000 cost
cost of
the

travel
credit card
to finance
finance the
the purchase.
purchase. The
would not
travel trailer,
trailer, they
they had
had to
to use
use aa credit
card to
The Zamoras
Zamoras would
not have
have

spent
$3,000 to
to buy
buy this
this trailer
trailer if
if their
safe to
to live
live in.
spent $3,000
their house
house was safe
165.
165.

The
trailer that
which is
travel trailer
trailer big enough
The trailer
that the
the Zamoras
Zamoras bought, which
is designed
designed as
as aa travel
enough to

sleep
up to
to 44 people,
people, isis not
not really
really large
large enough
enoughfor
for aa 5-member
5-memberfamily
family to live
live in,
sleep up
in, but
but the
the Zamoras
Zamoras

did not have money to buy aa bigger
bigger trailer.
166.
166.

The five-member Zamora
Zamora family,
family, including
school-age children,
children, is
is now
now living
living
including the
the three
three school-age

in overcrowded
overcrowded conditions
conditions in
inthis
thistrailer,
trailer,because
because without
withoutFEMA
FEMAassistance
assistance they
they cannot
cannot restore
restore
their house
to aa condition
condition that would be safe
safe to
to live
live in.
house to
167.
167.

On
that the
the Zamoras
Zamoras have
have incurred
incurred because
because FEMA
FEMA has
not
On top
top of
of the
the other
other expenses
expenses that
has not

provided
for the
provided aid
aid to
to repair
repair their
theirhouse,
house, they
they also
also now
now have
have to
to pay
pay $110
$110 aa month
month to
to rent
rent aa space
space for
the

travel trailer
trailer in
in aa mobile
mobile home
home park.
168.
168.

Mr.
from FEMA’s
FEMA’s denial, submitting his appeal
appeal by
by facsimile
facsimile to
to FEMA
FEMA
Mr. Zamora
Zamora appealed
appealed from

on
25, 2008.
2008.
on September
September 25,

169.
169.

Since
September 25,
25, 2008,
2008, FEMA
FEMA has
Since September
has neither
neither granted
granted nor
nor denied
denied the
the appeal,
appeal, or
or even
even

acknowledged
receiving it.
acknowledged receiving

CAUSES
OF ACTION
ACTION
CAUSES OF
170.
170.

FEMA
failing to
FEMA violates
violates 42
42 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§
§§ 5151(a) and 5174(j) by failing
to adopt
adopt and implement

ascertainable
standards necessary
necessaryto
to insure
insure that
that housing
housing repair
repair assistance
under 42
42 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §
ascertainable standards
assistance under
§

5174(c)(2) is made
available to
to victims
victims of Hurricane Dolly
made available
Dollyininan
an equitable
equitable and
and impartial
impartial manner.
manner.
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171.
171.

FEMA
FEMAviolates
violates42
42U.S.C.
U.S.C.§§5151(a)
5151(a)by
byimplementing
implementingan
anunpublished
unpublishedand
andunascertainable
unascertainable

“deferred maintenance”
maintenance” policy
policy that
that effectively
effectively disqualifies low-income families from
from housing
housing
repair
promoting rather
rather than
thanpreventing
preventing economic
economic discrimination.
discrimination.
repair assistance,
assistance, promoting
172.
172.

Each FEMA
FEMA decision
decision to
to provide,
provide, limit,
limit,orordeny
denyhousing
housingrepair
repairassistance
assistance under
under 42 U.S.C.

§ 5174(c)(2) is a final
final agency
agency action that is reviewable
reviewable under
under 5 U.S.C. § 704.
173.
173.

FEMA’s
FEMA’sfailure
failuretotopublish
publishand
andapply
applyascertainable
ascertainable standards
standards for its housing repair

assistance
decisionsproximately
proximatelycauses
causesongoing
ongoingirreparable
irreparableinjury
injurytotothe
theindividual
individual Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs
assistance decisions

and
their families, the organizational
organizational Plaintiff’s
Plaintiff’s members,
and the
theorganizational
organizationalPlaintiff
Plaintiff itself
and their
members, and
in
in the
the form
form of
ofdanger
danger to
tohealth,
health,displacement,
displacement, and
and unrecoverable
unrecoverable costs.
costs.
174.
174.

The judicial
judicial review
review provisions
provisions of
of the
the Administrative
AdministrativeProcedure
Procedure Act,
Act, 55 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§ 701,
701, et

seq.,
empower this
this Court
Court to
to issue
issueall
all injunctive
injunctive relief
to secure
secureFEMA’s
FEMA’s compliance
seq., empower
relief necessary
necessary to

with
with 42
42 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §§
§§ 5151(a) and 5174(j).

PRAYER
175.
175.

WHEREFORE,
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs
Plaintiffspray
praythat
thatthe
theCourt
Courtgrant
grantthem
them all
allequitable
equitable relief
reliefnecessary
necessary to

ensure
that FEMA
FEMA housing
ensure that
housing repair
repair assistance
assistance determinations in Disaster
Disaster No.
No. 1780
1780 are
are made
made in

compliance with 42 U.S.C. §§ 5151(a)
5151(a) and
and 5174(j),
5174(j), including:
including:
a.
a.

enjoin
enjoin FEMA
FEMAtotopublish
publishand
andapply
applyascertainable
ascertainablestandards
standards to
to make
make its housing
housing
repair
assistance
decisions;
repair assistance decisions;

b.
b.

enjoin FEMA
FEMAtotoreconsider
reconsiderall
alldenials
denialsof
ofhousing
housingrepair
repairassistance
assistance for Disaster
No.
1780
using
the
standards
stated
in
paragraph
a
above;
No. 1780 using the standards stated in paragraph a above;

c.
c.

enjoin FEMA
FEMAto
toprovide
providetimely
timelyand
andadequate
adequate notice of its
its actions
actions to applicants for
home
home repair
repair assistance;
assistance;

d.
d.

award
Plaintiffs their
award Plaintiffs
theircosts
costs and
and litigation
litigationexpenses;
expenses; and
and

e.
e.

award
award all other
other relief
relief that
that the
the Court
Court deems
deems just
just and
and proper.
proper.
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Respectfully submitted,
/s/
/s/

November
November 20,
20, 2008
2008

____________________________
Jerome
W. Wesevich
Wesevich
Jerome W.
Attorney in Charge
Charge for
for Plaintiffs
S.D.
Texas
Bar
No.
17397
S.D. Texas Bar No. 17397
State
Bar No. 21193250
State Bar
21193250
TEXAS
RIOGRANDE
TEXAS RIOGRANDE LLEGAL
EGAL AAID,
ID, INC.
INC.
1331
1331 Texas
Texas Avenue
El Paso,
Texas 79901
Paso, Texas
Phone:
Phone: (915) 241-0534
Fax: (915) 533-4108
Emily
Emily S.
S. Rickers
S.D.
Texas
Bar No.
No. 900070
S.D. Texas Bar
900070
State
Bar No. 24046714
State Bar
24046714
TEXAS
TEXAS RRIOGRANDE
IOGRANDE LLEGAL
EGAL AAID,
ID, INC.
INC.
316 South Closner
Closner Blvd.
Blvd.

Edinburg, Texas
Texas 78539
Phone:
Phone: (956) 393-6207
Fax: (956) 383-4688
Robert W. Doggett
S.D.
Bar No.
No. 36389
S.D. Texas
Texas Bar
36389
State
Bar No. 05945650
State Bar
05945650
TEXAS
TEXAS RRIOGRANDE
IOGRANDE LLEGAL
EGAL AAID,
ID, INC.
INC.
4920 North
North IH-35

Austin, Texas
Texas 78571
78571
Phone:
Phone: (512) 374-2725
Fax: (512) 447-3940
Tracy O. Figueroa
S.D.
S.D. Texas
Texas Bar No. 34715
34715
State
Bar No. 24032923
State Bar
24032923
TEXAS
TEXAS RRIOGRANDE
IOGRANDE LLEGAL
EGAL AAID,
ID, INC.
INC.
901
901 Leopard Street,
Street, Room 105
105

Corpus
Christi, Texas
Texas 78401
Corpus Christi,
Phone:
Phone: (361) 888-0282
Fax: (361) 888-0705
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CERTIFICATE
CERTIFICATEOF
OFSERVICE
SERVICE
II hereby
true and
and complete
complete copy
copy of
of the
the foregoing
foregoing
hereby certify
certify that
that on
on November
November 20,
20, 2008,
2008, IIcaused
caused aa true
with any
be served
servedupon
uponthe
thefollowing
following counsel
document with
any referenced
referenced exhibits
exhibits and
and attachments
attachments to be
counsel
for Defendant
FEMA
by
overnight
mail:
Defendant FEMA

Donald J. DeGabrielle Jr.
U.S. Attorney's Office
Office
Southern District
District of
Southern
of Texas
Texas
919 Milam
Milam Street,
Suite
1500
Street,
Houston, Texas
Texas 77002
Mary Ellen
Mary
Ellen Martinet,
Martinet, Senior
Senior Counsel
Counsel
Office
of
the
Chief
Counsel
Office of the Chief Counsel
Management Agency
Agency
Federal Emergency Management
500 C
C Street,
Street, SW
Washington, DC 20472

/s/
/s/

__________________________________
Jerome
W. Wesevich
Wesevich
Jerome W.
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